047
FILED
S/D J. WHITE
FEB 11 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR L. DISBROW, JR.,)
)
Petitioner/Appellant,)
)
versus)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Respondent/Appellee.)
_____)

S.C.T. CASE NO. 82,857

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT



ANNE MOORMAN REEVES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 0934070
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Arthur Lew Disbrow, Jr., entered a plea of guilty to violation of probation in two burglaries, and guilty to a new charge of loitering and prowling (R5, 19). Disbrow committed the burglaries because of a mental disorder involving women's underclothing and masturbation. His aim in the loitering and prowling was similar. His guideline scoresheet totalled 344 points, for a permitted sentencing range of from seventeen to forty years (Appendix to Initial Brief).

Disbrow received what is called a "back end split sentence" of two years of community control, followed by thirteen years and a consecutive five years in prison, the eighteen-year prison portion to be suspended upon successful completion of the community control (R45-49). The main feature of the community control is mentally disordered sex offender counseling.

The state appealed the sentence, on the grounds (1) that it is illegal as not authorized by Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988), and (2) that it is a downward departure from the guidelines without written reasons. Initial Brief of Appellant, 5th DCA Case No. 92-2391. The district court remanded the case for resentencing, and certified to this court the question now before it:

IS A REVERSE SPLIT SENTENCE A DOWNWARD
DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES WHICH
REQUIRES WRITTEN JUSTIFICATION?

State v. Disbrow, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D2540 (Fla. 5th DCA December 3, 1990).

Notice to invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed. This merit brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 948.01(11), Florida Statutes (1991), specifically authorizes the type of sentence imposed here, a reverse split sentence with a term of probation (community control in the instant case) to be followed by incarceration, which may be modified by the court upon successful completion of the initial period. A specific statute covering a particular subject matter controls over a broader statutory provision covering the same generalized subject matter. In addition, where two different statutory constructions are possible, the rule of lenity mandates that the courts must construe statutes in criminal cases in the light most favorable to the accused.

Moreover, in the event the guidelines remain applicable in this case, the sentence as imposed does fall within the guidelines range, because a guidelines term of imprisonment was imposed. Since the term of incarceration may or may not actually be served, depending on certain future actions of the defendant and on a future motion to the trial court, any downward departure would not occur until such time as the incarcerative portion of the sentence was vacated.

For these reasons the sentence imposed here is lawful. The certified question should be answered in the negative and the case remanded for imposition of the original "back end" split sentence.

ARGUMENT

SINCE FLORIDA STATUTES SPECIFICALLY AUTHORIZE A REVERSE SPLIT SENTENCE, IT IS NOT A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE TO IMPOSE A TERM OF PROBATION TO BE FOLLOWED BY A TERM OF INCARCERATION.

Section 948.01(11), Florida Statutes (1991), specifically authorizes the imposition of a reverse or "back end" split sentence, whereby a probationary term or term of community control is followed by a period of incarceration, which may or may not be vacated by the court at some future date, depending on the actions of the defendant. That section provides that

[t]he court may also impose a split sentence whereby the defendant is sentenced to a term of probation which may be followed by a period of incarceration or, with respect to a felony, into community control, as follows:

(a) If the offender meets the terms and conditions of probation or community control, any term of incarceration may be modified by court order to eliminate the term or incarceration.

The provisions of this specific statute authorizing probation or community control to be followed by incarceration should take precedence over the more general sentencing guidelines statute. The law provides that a special statute covering a particular subject matter is controlling over a general statutory provision covering the same and other subjects in general terms. See, e.g., Adams v. Culver, 111 So. 2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1959). See also, Busic v. United States, 446 U. S. 398, 406 (1980).

The preamble to Chapter 91-225, Laws of Florida (1991), which enacted this subsection of 948.01, makes clear that the

legislative intent was to allow for this type of sentence outside of the stricter confines of the sentencing guidelines. That preamble states that

WHEREAS, Florida is facing an ever-increasing prison and jail population and a severe budgetary shortfall, and

WHEREAS, incarceration is an expensive method of dealing with offenders, and

WHEREAS, offenders are currently serving, on the average, less than one-third of their sentences, and

WHEREAS, judges sentencing offenders are faced with either placing an offender on probation or sending the offender to prison, resulting in an unacceptably short period of time being served due to overcrowded prisons, and

WHEREAS, there is a lack of sufficient intermediate sanctions, punishments, and treatment programs, and . . .

WHEREAS, both the inmate population within the Department of Corrections and the population under parole and probation supervision by the Department of Corrections had increased from 125,337 in November, 1989, to 134,116 in November, 1990, and

WHEREAS, it is critical that state and local correctional authorities cooperate and combine forces to protect the public, reduce recidivism and effectively punish criminal behavior, . . .

the state should reserve its prison system for the most serious and violent criminals and should begin, through this first phase of corrections partnership, to provide community-based correctional programs and treatment

Thus, it is clear that the legislature was providing an alternative "sufficient intermediate sanction" by the reverse split sentence. Such a sentence takes the specifically authorized punishment outside the restrictions of the sentencing guidelines.

In this way, it helps to avoid further overcrowding of the prison system. Moreover, it gives the sentencing judge the power to determine for whom the sentence is appropriate; to make the decision at this point, based on the facts surrounding the offense, is undoubtedly a more suitable and more effective method of reducing the prison population than allowing the Department of Corrections to release prisoners based on their good behavior.

It must be borne in mind that the rule of lenity provides for strict construction of statutes, and for construction favorable to the accused where statutes are susceptible of differing constructions. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1991). Thus, the two statutes--the one, the more general sentencing guidelines statute; and the other, the more specific reverse split sentence statute--should be construed in combination to permit imposition of the reverse split sentence regardless of guideline constraints.

In arguing that Disbrow's sentence is illegal, the state relies heavily upon Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988), and the sentencing alternatives listed therein--which do not include the reverse split. A brief glance at the case law through which sentencing has developed is useful here. In the late fifties, it was held that to put a person on probation indefinitely before finally putting him in prison was illegal. See Shieder v. State, 430 So. 2d 537, 538 n. 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The direction was from the uncertain to the certain. Then Massey v. State, 389 So. 2d 712, 713 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980),

formulated as a rule what had often been observed before, namely "that a prisoner is entitled to pay his debt to society in one stretch rather than in bits and pieces." For this reason, "except where the defendant consents," an interrupted sentence was improper. Later, Lanier v. State, 504 So. 2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), made no mention of defendant consent, but merely offered the rule that "when a defendant is given a split sentence, the non-incarcerative portion must immediately follow the prison sanction." The direction remained as before, towards greater certainty.

The following year, Poore distinguished between a true split sentence and a probationary split sentence. The latter permits a greater sentence upon a finding of violation of probation than the former, based on the different legal principle that governs it. This court analyzed Florida law, and concluded that the five basic sentencing alternatives were (1) straight confinement, (2) a true split sentence, (3) a probationary split sentence, (4) confinement as a special condition of and preceding probation, and (5) straight probation. Since that time, courts have decided that a reverse split sentence is not legal as not authorized by Poore. See e.g., Gaskins v. State, 607 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Ferguson v. State, 594 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Bryant v. State, 591 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

It is true that Poore does not specifically mention the reverse split, or "back end" split, or conditional suspension. But the purpose of Poore was not to eliminate proper sentencing

options; rather, it was to eliminate a constitutional transgression as set out in North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U. S. 711, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969) (defendant not subject to sentence increase based only on facts giving rise to original sentence, once jeopardy has attached). Hence the distinction between the true split and the probationary split sentence: An increase in sentence arising from a probationary split sentence rests on new facts, namely, those relevant to the probation violation. Thus the probationary split sentence avoids any Pearce noncompliance, and the same reasoning may be applied to the "back end" split sentence.

The trial judge relied upon section 948.01(13) as justification for Disbrow's "back end" split sentence. The state's initial brief suggests that this was an error, as that subsection refers to substance abusers. It is relevant to note that the section refers to a medical condition, and that the court found Disbrow suffering from a medical condition--mentally disordered sex offender. By analogy, subsection (13) applies to Disbrow, and gives additional authority for the reverse split sentence on facts of this kind.

With respect to the guidelines, Disbrow's sentence does fall within the permitted guidelines range as the prison term was imposed. While the district court was correct in stating that the prison term may be vacated at some time in the future, the fact remains that it was imposed and may in fact be served. The determining factors will be (1) the actions of the defendant

during the preliminary community control term, and (2) the court's decision whether or not to vacate the incarcerative term.

That is to say, if this type of sentence is to be considered in light of the proscription against departure without written reasons, no departure can have occurred until such time in the future, after the probationary period, as the trial court may decide to rule favorably on a defense motion to vacate the term of incarceration. At that time, the court could issue written reasons for its then downward departure, which the state could then appeal. But, by the terms of the sentence imposed here and the terms of section 948.01, the vacation of the term of imprisonment may never come to pass, and the defendant may indeed serve the period of incarceration. Thus, it is premature for the state to attack the sentence, imposed in conformity with both section 948.01(11) and the sentencing guidelines.

In conclusion, it is submitted that the sentence imposed here was authorized by statute and is a viable legal alternative sanction to be imposed by the trial court. The certified question should be answered in the negative and the case remanded for reimposition of the original "back end" split sentence.

CONCLUSION

Based on the argument and authorities presented herein, the Petitioner requests that this honorable court quash the decision of the District Court of Appeal Fifth District, answer the certified question in the negative, and remand for reimposition of the original sentence.