IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

APR 4 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO.:

82,857

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ARTHUR L. DISBROW, JR.,

Petitioner,

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIRST UNION TOWER FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State's position in this case is that the sentence imposed is illegal or at the very least an improper downward departure with no written reasons. Numerous appellate courts have held that a sentence which includes probation should require the defendant to complete any incarceration portion of the sentence prior to serving any probation or community control. While the goal of such sentencing is not without some merit, there are numerous sentencing options which are legal and which can accomplish the same purpose. A probationary split sentence or even a true split sentence both reward a defendant with a less restrictive form of observation while still holding a potential penalty over his head for failure to conform his behavior.

To allow the existence of back-end split sentences without even requiring any written reasons for departure defeats the entire concept of the guidelines. The guidelines weigh both the quality and the quantity of crimes committed by a defendant in determining the permitted sentence. In this case the Petitioner's actions created a range of 17-40 years. To call a sentence of only community control plus the potential of incarceration a legitimate sentence in this situation returns the guidelines to nothing but suggestions and not requirements.

ARGUMENT

POINT OF LAW

WHETHER BACK-END SPLIT SENTENCES ARE ILLEGAL AND WHETHER THEY CONSTITUTE A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE WHICH WOULD REQUIRE WRITTEN REASONS.

The Petitioner in this case was given an eighteen year prison sentence which was to be served only if he violated his community control. This type sentence is often called a back-end split sentence. The State in this case simply requested a guideline sentence. (R 31) Under the sentencing guidelines, the Petitioner scored 344 points which placed him in the recommended cell of 22-27 years and a permitted range of 17-40 years. Since the sentence imposed initially included no period of incarceration to be served, the State asserted that such a sentence was illegal.

At the district court the State submitted that this sentence was improper for two reasons: 1) it was an illegal sentence; and 2) it was a downward departure without written reasons. The appellate court agreed and vacated the sentences.

Reviewing the facts from the trial level shows that the Petitioner was sentenced on the 18th of September 1992, for violation of probation in two cases: 87-5228-CFA, burglary of a dwelling, and 87-5227-CFA, burglary of a conveyance. (R 23-51, 70-75) In case 87-5227, the court sentenced the Petitioner to thirteen years incarceration; however, this prison time was suspended pending the outcome of the Petitioner's serving of two years community control. In case 87-5228, the court sentenced the

Petitioner to five years incarceration which was to be consecutive to 87-5227's back-end split sentence of two years community control and thirteen years DOC, with the prison sentence "modified" or suspended if Petitioner served his two years of community control. (R 23-51, 70-75) The practical effect of this sentence is that if the Petitioner successfully served his two years of community control he would never serve any of the prison time.

Supporting the State's argument that the sentence is illegal is the case <u>Poore v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988), which sets out five sentencing alternatives none of which include a backend split. As noted by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 864 (Fla 5th DCA 1992):

In <u>Poore</u>, the court set out five sentencing alternatives: 1) a period of confinement;
2) a "true split sentence" consisting of a total period of confinement with a portion of the confinement period suspended and the defendant placed on probation for that suspended portion; 3) a "probationary split sentence" consisting of a period confinement, none of which is suspended, followed by a period of probation; 4) sentence, (footnote omitted) consisting of a period of probation preceded by a period of confinement imposed as a condition; and 5) straight probation. 531 So. 2d at 164.

In <u>Ferguson</u>, the defendant was given 364 days in the county jail suspended upon successful completion of probation. The Fifth District Court held that the sentence was not one of the sentencing alternatives set out in <u>Poore</u> nor was there express authority for this type of conditional or suspended sentence in Section 921.187, Florida Statutes (1987). <u>Ferguson</u>, at 866. <u>See also</u>, <u>Bryant v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 591 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (sentence of ten years prison the serving of which was subject to whether the defendant successfully completed two years community control was illegal).

Another case holding that such sentences are illegal is Gaskins v. State, 607 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In Gaskins, the defendant was given a ten year "conditional suspended sentence" which would not be served if the defendant completed five years of probation. Id. at 475. The First District Court of Appeal held that the sentence was illegal.

An additional reason the sentence is illegal is that case law has consistently required that the incarceration portion of a sentence be completed prior to the commencement of the probationary portion of the sentence. See Horner v. State, 617 So. 2d 311 (Fla. 1993), Walker v. State, 604 So. 2d 913 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), Humphrey v. State, 579 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Assuming the Petitioner violates his community control, his prison sentence would be served only after he had already served a portion of his community control.

Even if the Petitioner's sentence is found to be a legal possibility, it is still improper because it is a downward departure for which the trial court did not provide any written reasons at the time the sentence was imposed. See, Pope v. State, 561 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1990), State v. McCulloch, 573 So. 2d 395

¹In fact, the First District certified a question concerning not only the issue of the conditional suspended sentences but also the issue of whether the defendant could wait until he violated the probation before he challenged original sentence. <u>Id</u>. at 476.

(Fla. 5th DCA 1991). In the instant case, the trial court did not provide any written reasons for granting a departure sentence, and upon remand, the trial court must resentence the Petitioner within the guidelines. See, Pope.

The case <u>State v. Waldo</u>, 582 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), addressed a situation very similar to the instant case in which the trial court imposed a five and one-half year suspended prison sentence service of which was dependent upon the defendant's completion of two years of community control. The Second District noted

When sentencing pursuant to the guidelines, a trial judge may impose a split sentence, but if he does, the incarceration portion must not be less than the minimum guidelines Comm.Note (d)(12)Fla.R.Crim.P 3.701. The trial judge may, of course, depart from this requirement if he provides a valid written reason for doing so. State v. McCall, 573 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). The appellee's sentence did not require him to serve at least the minimum sentence required guidelines the and accordingly, a downward departure. Since the trial judge failed to provide written reasons departing from the guidelines, and the state did not agree to the downward departure, the appellee's sentence must be reversed. State v. Allen, 557 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

The Petitioner submits that §948.01(11), Fla. Stat. (1991), authorizes the back-end, conditional sentences evidently without

regard to the guidelines.² However, the State disagrees. To attempt to allow its application without regard to the guidelines would grant the trial court such unfettered discretion that the guidelines would be rendered meaningless. While the exact application of that section is questionable, nowhere does it exempt itself from the requirements of the guidelines. A comparison can be seen by looking at the old habitual statute which was not exempt from the guidelines as opposed to the new statute which specifically provides that it is outside the dictates of the §921.001. See, §775.084(4)(e) (1993); Whitehead v. State, 498 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986).

A last point is that the Petitioner submits that the sentence imposed is within the guidelines. To support such an argument, the claim is made that a prison sentence has been imposed which the Petitioner "may" in fact serve one day. While everyone is aware of the fact that the realities of the system are such that defendants often actually serve little of the sentences imposed, the idea that it is sufficient that a defendant "may" serve some prison time when his permitted guideline range is 17-40 years would stretch the guidelines beyond not only recognition but of any legitimate use.

The State also notes that no attempt to rely upon §948.01(11) was made at the district court level, and, therefore, any such argument should be found to be not properly preserved by the Petitioner. See, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

³While it does often seem that probation violation is automatic, to base the legitimacy of suspended conditional sentences on such an inevitability helps to show the illegality of such a sentencing scheme.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this honorable Court approve the decision of the district court.